PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on discretionary review of a certified question of great public importance. In the district court, this case was consolidated from two separate appeals, First DCA Nos. 92-281 and 92-282. The first was an appeal from judgments and sentences on three counts of aggravated battery, the second an appeal from a judgment and sentence of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Herein, references to the record in No. 92-281 appear as (R1:[page number]), while references to the record in No. 92-282 appear as (R2:[page number]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged Edler with three counts of aggravated battery, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R1:262-265) On December 10, 1991, Edler went to trial first on the aggravated battery charges, before Circuit Judge Frank L. Bell. (R1:1,30) At the conclusion of the state's case, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal, which was denied, then rested without presenting evidence. (R1:222) During final instructions, the court instructed the jury on transferred intent. (R1:249-250) The jury found Edler guilty of aggravated battery as charged on all three counts, and the state announced it would seek a habitual offender sentence. (RI:257-258, 267, 271) At the sentencing hearing, the state offered evidence of Edler's seven prior felony offenses, and the court found him to be a habitual offender. (RI:274-275) The court also entered a written order to that effect. (R306-308) The court adjudicated Edler guilty of the offenses, and imposed consecutive 30-year habitual offender sentences with three-year mandatory minimum terms. (R280-284, 299-304)

Edler then went to trial on January 24, 1992, on the severed charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, again before Judge Bell. (R2:1, 21) The state moved to introduce the transcribed testimony of Christopher Sanders from Edler's trial on the other counts in this case, taken December 10, 1991. (R2:21) Defense counsel objected and argued that the state had made no effort to secure the attendance of Sanders, a U.S. Army soldier who had returned to his post in Germany after his

-2-

testimony in December. (R2:27) The court admitted the transcribed testimony. (R2:29) The court also admitted records establishing Edler's seven prior felonies. (R2:100-101)

The jury found Edler guilty of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, as charged. (R2:197, 217) The defense acknowledged that the judgments and sentences introduced by the state in an earlier sentencing hearing on the severed counts applied to this count as well, but maintained an objection to habitualization because the convictions were not sequential. (R2:201) The court found Edler to be a habitual offender and sentenced him to 30 years in state prison, consecutive to the three consecutive 30-year sentences imposed on the severed counts. (R2:202, 219-226) The court also imposed a three-year mandatory minimum term for possession of a firearm, also consecutive to the three consecutive three-year terms on the other counts. (R2:202, 221)

Timely notices of appeal was filed, and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Edler on appeal. (R1:234, 240; R2:317-322)

The First DCA consolidated the two cases and issued a single opinion. The court rejected most of Edler's arguments, some on the merits and some without comment. However, the court did find error in the stacking of minimum mandatory terms for use of the firearm. <u>Slip op</u>. at 3. The court also certified the following question of great public importance:

> MAY CONSECUTIVE ENHANCED SENTENCES BE IMPOSED UNDER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, FOR CRIMES GROWING OUT OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE?

> > -3-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Aggravated Battery Trial

A shooting occurred July 29, 1991, on a street corner in Pensacola. Witnesses referred to this area as "the blocks," evidently a popular gathering area on a street featuring bars and nightspots. (R1:177, 187) William Snow testified that he, his brother Delarian, and two women, their friends Betsy and Barbara, stood around their cars parked on the street there and talked. (R1:139) A man identified by the brothers as Edler approached the group and started to talk to Barbara. (R1:140, 145, 207) After a few minutes, William Snow told the man to leave. (R1:140) The man walked away muttering, according to William. (R1:140)

About 30 minutes later, William saw the same man across the street, hitting his hand with a fist and pointing at William. (R1:141) After 20 or 30 more minutes, the Snows and their friends decided to leave. (R1:141) As William and Delarian approached their respective cars, the man walked toward William and said, "Yes, player, I want some of you." (R1:142) William responded, "Come and get me." (R1:142) The man produced a sawed-off shotgun, and pointed it at William. (R1:143) He swung it back and forth between Delarian, who was at the door of his Jeep, and William, at the door of his car. (R1:143) William tried to stall the man, who told Delarian to get out of his Jeep and walk over next to his brother. (R1:144) The man fired at William's chest, and William flipped over the hood of his car, landing on the other side. (R1:145) He was not hit by the shot. (R1:155) William moved to the rear of his car and, while

-4-

crouching, told the man he would see him again. (R1:146) The man fired a second shot. (R1:155) At this point, Delarian was running by William in an attempt to get away. He was struck in the back by buckshot. (R1:205, 210) Delarian said that as the man continued to back away and start to run, he fired a third shot. (R1:205) William described only two shots. Sandra Robinson, a bystander, said she was also hit by the second shot. (R1:162)

Christopher Sanders, another brother of William and Delarian Snow, testified that he heard and saw events from a short distance away. (Rl:182) He turned in the direction of the sound of the first shot, and saw a man fire a second shot at his brother William. (Rl:182) Delarian was running past William when the second shot rang out, Sanders said. (Rl:189) He said he knew Edler from their school days, and identified him as the shooter. (Rl:178-179) Shortly after the shooting, Sanders saw William talking to a police officer at a convenience store. (Rl:183) He gave Edler's name to the officer. (Rl:184) Sanders testified that his brothers did not know Edler before that evening. (Rl:193)

Robinson testified that after the shooting, she saw Edler at a hotel, and told him he had shot her. (R1:165) According to Robinson, Edler said he was sorry he had hit her, and that she'd been struck because "the boy" ran in her direction. (R1:174) Edler also said that he thought he'd hit the guy he was shooting at, and that he had hidden the gun. (R1:165)

-5-

Delarian Snow was treated for buckshot wounds to the back, and released. (R1:206) He said that at the time of trial, he thought he still had two fragments in his back. (R1:206) Sandra Robinson testified that she received wounds in the left shoulder and back, and both calves. (R1:163) She eventually received hospital treatment the night of the shooting. (R1:165-166) William Snow received pellet wounds on his right elbow, but declined treatment. (R1:150) He said the injury wasn't serious enough for a hospital bill. (R1:150)

Possession of Firearm Trial

This conviction rests largely on the same evidence adduced in the first trial. William and Delarian Snow both testified to events culminating in the two of them being hit by buckshot from a gun fired by a man they identified as Edler. (R2:112-144) Neither said they knew Edler before the shooting. (R2:126, 139) Barbara Jean Madison testified that the man who later committed the shooting had approached and tried to engage her in conversation, but she could not identify Edler as the man. (R2:61) In his testimony from the earlier trial, read to the jury in this trial, Christopher Sanders said he knew Edler by name and saw him commit the shooting. (R2:76-80) Sanders said he later found his brother William Snow talking to police officers, and gave the officers Edler's name. (R2:83) The Snows testified that they were shown a photograph at the police station, after they had learned Edler's name through Sanders. (R2:126-127, 139-144) Delarian Snow said the photograph depicted Edler. (R2:139) Sandra Robinson did not testify in this trial.

-6-

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Consecutive overall sentences are not authorized under the habitual offender statute for crimes committed in a single episode and prosecuted in the same case. This argument is already before the Court in <u>Brooks v. State</u>, No. 80,768, in which the same certified question as in this case was first posed. The question, whether consecutive sentences are authorized under Section 775.084 for crimes growing out of a single episode, should be answered in the negative, and petitioner's four 30-year sentences ordered to run concurrently rather than consecutively.

II. The court erred in admitting the testimony of state witness Christopher Sanders from an earlier trial on severed counts in the same case. The state made no showing it had attempted to secure Sanders' attendance, voluntarily or otherwise, as required by the Florida Evidence Code. Additionally, the absence of evidence of a good-faith effort by the state to procure Sanders' attendance violated petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation of adverse witnesses. Because Sanders was a crucial identification witness, the district court incorrectly deemed this error harmless.

III. Petitioner was convicted of three counts of aggravated battery for a single shotgun blast which slightly injured three people. The conviction on the third count rests on the doctrine of transferred intent. The jury was instructed on the concept, and the prosecutor relied on it in closing argument, particularly as to Count III. Transferred intent applies only when the intended victim escapes the consequences of the accused's

-7-

intentional act, and an unintended victim suffers instead. Here, buckshot from a single round struck the two intended victims and one bystander. Transferred intent does not encompass the conviction involving the bystander. This harm may make the perpetrator liable for another offense, but not the specific intent crime of aggravated battery. Consequently, Count III must fall for lack of an essential element, intent.

The state established an essential element of IV. possession of a firearm by a convicted felon by introducing records of petitioner's convictions in a series of cases from 1988 and 1989, then produced the same convictions to establish his eligibility for an enhanced sentence as a habitual offender. The dual use of the prior record to establish the crime and then enhance its punishment violates the Double Jeopardy clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions. It resulted in petitioner being put twice to punishment for the same combination of elements, his prior offenses plus the instant felony. The same two elements subjected him first to 15 years in prison for a second-degree felony, then double that for his status as a habitual offender. Thus, the sentence is unconstitutional. The majority opinion in Maeweather v. State, 616 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1993), did not address the argument made herein.

-8-

ARGUMENT

I. CONSECUTIVE OVERALL SENTENCES ARE NOT AUTHORIZED UNDER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, FOR CRIMES GROWING OUT OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE.

The district court certified the same question as in <u>Brooks</u> <u>v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), <u>rev. pending</u>, No. 80,768:

> MAY CONSECUTIVE ENHANCED SENTENCES BE IMPOSED UNDER SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUES, FOR CRIMES GROWING OUT OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE?

For reasons explained more fully in the initial and reply briefs in <u>Brooks</u>, petitioner urges this Court to answer the question in the negative, and order that his sentences run concurrently. Since this is a "pipeline" case on this issue, the <u>Brooks</u> argument is presented in abbreviated form herein.

Consecutive overall sentences are not authorized under the habitual offender statute for crimes committed in a single episode and prosecuted in a single case. Habitual offender enhancement is like the three-year mandatory minimum term authorized under section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes. The factor authorizing the enhanced penalty, be it a firearm or a qualifying prior record, attaches to each crime committed in a single episode. Consistent with the law of firearm enhancement, the qualifying factor is subject to only one enhancement per criminal episode. Stacking of sentences creates impermissible multiple enhancements. Additionally, section 775.084(4), Florida Statutes, which calls for sentence enhancement on a case-by-case,

-9-

not crime-by-crime basis. Only one overall recidivist enhancement is authorized in each case.

Petitioner's four 30-year sentences under the habitual offender statute were all committed in a single episode, and prosecuted in a single case. The aggravated battery convictions stem from a single round of buckshot which struck three persons. The remaining conviction, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, arose from the same incident. Therefore, the portion of petitioner's sentencing order mandating consecutive prison terms must be amended to reflect that the sentences are to be served concurrently. II. USE OF THE SAME PRIOR OFFENSES AS AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF AN OFFENSE AND THEN AS A BASIS FOR ENHANCEMENT OF THE SENTENCE FOR THAT OFFENSE VIOLATES THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSES OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The state established an essential element of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, Count IV, by introducing records of Edler's convictions in Case Nos. 88-3887, 88-3888, 88-4862, 89-934, 89-935 and 89-936. (R2:100) The state produced the same convictions to establish Edler's eligibility for an enhanced sentence as a habitual offender. (R2:201)¹

The dual use of the prior record to establish the crime and then enhance its punishment violates the Double Jeopardy clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions. It resulted in petitioner being put twice to punishment for the same combination of elements, his prior offenses plus the instant felony. The same two elements subjected him first to 15 years in prison for a second-degree felony, then double that for his status as a habitual offender. Thus, the sentence is unconstitutional. This Court recently held to the contrary in <u>Maeweather v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1993). For reasons explained more fully below, petitioner submits that <u>Maeweather</u> does not control as to the argument made herein.

¹The defense acknowledged that the state's showing in the sentencing hearing on the aggravated batteries applied to this sentence as well. During that hearing, the state produced records of the same convictions introduced to prove an essential element in the trial on the firearm charge. (R1:274).

The Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution prohibits multiple punishments for the same offense, as does Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. See generally, State v. Hegstrom, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1981). The state constitutional provision may grant broader protection than its federal counterpart. The Fifth District Court of Appeal observed that this Court has indicated that, if confronted with the question, it would hold that the state Double Jeopardy clause is defined by Ex Parte Lange, 85 U.S. (18 Wall.) 163, 21 L.Ed. 872 (1873). Wilkins v. State, 543 So.2d 800, 802 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 554 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1989), citing to Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987). In Carawan this Court quoted a passage from Lange which concluded with the proposition that "the Constitution was designed as much to prevent the criminal from being twice punished for the same offense as from being twice tried for it." 515 So.2d at 164. The context of this statement in Lange suggests that the Court employed the word "offence" not in the contemporary sense of a statutorily defined offense, but in the sense of a common-law crime, a criminal act. In discussing whether the government could vacate a punishment already served and impose a new one, the Lange court stated: "TO do so is to punish him twice for the same offense. He is not only put in jeopardy twice but put to actual punishment twice for the same thing." 21 L.Ed. at 878 (emphasis added).

This Court employed "one act" analysis in <u>Cleveland v.</u> <u>State</u>, 587 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1991). There the defendant was convicted of attempted robbery with a firearm and use of a

-12-

firearm in the commission of a felony. The Court ruled this an improper cumulative punishment for the same act, holding that when robbery is enhanced for use of a firearm, the single act of use of the same firearm in commission of the same robbery cannot result in a separate conviction and sentence for use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. Id. at 1146.

Here, as in Cleveland, Edler has twice been put to punishment for the same thing, that is, the same combination of acts creating both the statutory offense and the grounds for sentence enhancement. The prior convictions constituted a substantive element of section 790.23, Florida Statutes (1991), possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. Harris v. State, 449 So.2d 892 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. dismissed, 453 So.2d 1364 (1984). This same substantive element necessary to create the offense then served as an element essential to the sentence enhancement under section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1991). This dual use of the prior record distinguishes this sentence from the usual operation of recidivist statutes which have withheld double jeopardy challenges. For instance, in Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928), the court wrote:

> The [recidivist] statute does not make it an offense or crime for one to have been convicted more than once. The law simply prescribes a longer sentence for a second or subsequent offense for the reason that the prior convictions taken in connection with the subsequent offense demonstrates the incorrigible and dangerous character of accused thereby establishing the necessity for enhanced restraint. The imposition of such enhanced punishment is not a prosecution of or punishment for the former convictions. The Constitution forbids such action. The enhanced punishment is an incident to the

> > -13-

last offense alone. But for that offense it would not be imposed.

Id. at 386 (citation omitted). See also, Tillman v. State, 609 So. 2d 1295 (Fla. 1992). When, as occurred here, the subsequent offense requires proof of the prior convictions, additional use of these convictions for sentence enhancement results in two new punishments for the same factor. This is no connection of independent factors, the new crime and the old record, creating a synthesis of an enhanced punishment, as contemplated in <u>Cross</u>. Rather, the record serves to create the new crime, and both the new crime and the record create the enhancement. The same element is bootstrapped into two punishments for one offense, violating constitutional protections against twice being put to punishment for the same conduct.

Analogy to a hypothetical scenario may make this principle clearer. The process by which the prior offenses elevate a noncriminal act into a felony, then enhance the punishment for that felony, parallels the process by which use of a deadly weapon enhances a battery from a misdemeanor to a felony, then also serves as an essential element to the derivative crime of possession of a weapon in the commission of a felony. In the latter scenario, without the weapon there is no aggravated battery, thus no felony to which the crime of possession of a weapon in the commission of a felony could attach. Under Cleveland, supra, the residual weapon offense must fall as an improper cumulative punishment for the same act. In this case, without the prior record, there is no felony of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, thus no felony to which habitual

-14-

felony offender enhancement could attach. Once the record creates the felony, it then creates the foundation for sentence enhancement, just as in the hypothetical, the weapon creates the felony, then provides another element essential to possession of a weapon in the commission of a felony. Through both operations, a single factor puts the offender twice to punishment.

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