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

We disagree with appellant's must the provisions utilized premise that herein are dependent on each other and are alternative methods of enhancement. The supreme court in State v. Harris, 356 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1978) ruled that the felony petit theft statute creates a "and substantive offense is thus distinguishable from section 775.084, the habitual criminal offender statute." Id. at 316. In that light, the rule is that "[d]ouble jeopardy seeks only to prevent courts either from allowing multiple prosecutions or from imposing multiple punishments for a single, legislatively defined offense." State v. Hegstrom, 401 So.2d at 1345. Here, the legislature defined the offense of felony petit theft in section 812.104(2)(d). It then specifically made the offense subject to punishment "as provided in ss. 775.082, 775.083 and 775.084" (Emphasis added.). provided the procedural safequards are complied with under section 775.084 in sentencing the defendant as an habitual violent felony offender, we see nothing in the respective statutes indicating that the legislature did not intent the sentence imposed herein.

Gayman, 584 So.2d at 634.

Here, as in <u>Gayman</u>, the statutory provisions provide for a "reclassification" of the otherwise lawful act of possession of a firearm to an illegal act, a substantive offense, by the existence of a prior felony conviction, and for an entirely distinct "enhancement" of the sentence for the possession offense by the existence of the same or different prior felony convictions. These provisions therefore do not violate double jeopardy principles.

#### ISSUE III

WHETHER A CONVICTION FOR AGGRAVATED BATTERY AGAINST AN UNINTENDED VICTIM CAN REST ON THE SAME INTENT NECESSARY FOR A SEPARATE CONVICTION FOR AGGRAVATED BATTERY AGAINST AN INTENDED VICTIM.

Petitioner arques that under the doctrine ο£ transferred intent, the intent element of aggravated battery could not be divided among the intended victim, William Snow, and the unintended victims Delarian Snow and Sandra Robinson. This issue is not encompassed within certified question, and this court therefore need not address it. Stephens v. State.

The state argued the concept of transferred intent during closing argument and the trial court instructed the jury on this principle without objection. During the charge conference, defense counsel stated that he had no objection to the proposed jury instructions. (T 221) Petitioner does not characterize the asserted error in this fundamental. He did not request jury instruction culpable negligence resulting in injury as to Counts II and He did not move to dismiss the information as to Counts II and III on grounds that the undisputed facts did not establish aggravated battery of the victims. Petitioner did not argue at any time during trial that he was not guilty of aggravated battery of the victims in Counts II and III because he had no intent to harm them.

Clearly, this issue was never raised in the trial court, and therefore is unpreserved for appellate review.

See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Harmon
v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988).

Even if this issue were subject to appellate review, petitioner's argument is unpersuasive. He asserts that because aggravated battery is a specific intent crime, he cannot be quilty of aggravated battery of the victims in Counts II and II because he had no intent to harm either of them when he shot at William Snow. Petitioner arques that he is thus guilty only of culpable negligence as to Counts This argument misapprehends the nature of the intent element in the crime of aggravated battery. aggravated battery is a specific intent crime, Russell v. State, 373 So.2d 97 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), the specific intent element applies not to a particular victim, but to the act of intentionally touching, striking or causing bodily harm against the victim's will, with intent [or knowledge] to cause great bodily harm, permanent disability or permanent disfigurement or with use of a deadly weapon. There is no question but that petitioner intentionally used his shotgun to harm each of the victims against their will. A defendant is quilty of the crime of battery "even though because of a mistake as to identity he struck the wrong person, or even though in shooting into a crowd he did not intend to injure any particular person." Torcia, Wharton's Criminal Law §178 (14th Ed. 1979) Moreover, "[i]f two persons who are engaged in mutual combat in a public street happen to injure a third person, each combatant is guilty of a battery as to such

third person even though the injury was unintended." <u>Id</u>.

Thus, a defendant's intention to harm a particular victim is irrelevant under the aggravated battery statute.

The court in <u>Pressley v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) discussed the defendant's contention that he could be found guilty only of manslaughter, as opposed to second-degree murder, of an unintended victim killed when he fired his gun at another victim. <sup>3</sup> The court stated:

Clearly, a person of ordinary judgment would know that firing a loaded gun toward a group of people is reasonably certain to kill or do serious bodily injury to another. Appellant's acts also indicated an indifference to human life and demonstrated ill will. though a defendant has no intent to hit or kill anyone, firing a gun into a of people constitutes degree murder when a person is killed as [cites omitted] a result. instant moreover, there case, evidence that the appellant did intend to either kill or cause serious bodily [intended victim injury to Reddick. As a matter of law, original malice is transferred from the one against whom it was entertained to the person who actually suffered the consequence of the unlawful act.

Pressley, 395 So.2d at 1177.

While all individuals who commit murder have a specific intent to kill, Florida law does not distinguish between degress of murder based on the categories of general and specific intent. See Amlotte v. State, 254 So.2d 249, 254 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)(Cowart dissenting). What is analogous between Pressley v. State and this case is that the defendants in both cases were guilty of their respective crimes regardless of the fact that neither specifically intended to harm the unanticipated victim or victims.

In any event, evidence exists in this case of appellant's intent to cause Delarian Snow harm in that he aimed his gun at him. (R1 204) Victim Sandra Robinson testified that when she saw petitioner after the incident he explained that he shot her because she was in the same area as William Snow. (R2 174) From this statement, it is clear that petitioner intended to cause harm to anyone who happened to be in his line of fire as he tried to shoot William Snow.

Like petitioner, respondent is unable to cite any Florida decisions involving the doctrine of transferred intent with facts analogous to those in this case, that is, where the defendant's act causes harm to both intended and unanticipated victims. However, the general principle underlying the doctrine of transferred intent does not preclude application of the doctrine to facts showing that the defendant successfully harmed both intended and unintended victims. As the court stated in <u>Valasskis v. State</u>, 187 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966):

When an intent exists to do wrong, and an unintended illegal act ensues as a natural and probable consequence, or if committing the act an unintended struck down, the original isintent as a matter of law is transferred the one against whom entertained to the person who actually suffered the consequences ofthe unlawful act.

Id., 187 So.2d at 77. There is no rationale by which, if a defendant strikes an unintended as well as an intended victim, the specific intent to harm cannot be viewed as

encompassing all intended and unintended victims who happen to be in the defendant's line of fire. As noted above the specific intent element in aggravated battery pertains not to a particular victim, but to the act of touching, striking or causing bodily harm to an individual against his or her intent to touch, strike or harm remains undivided, to reference petitioner's term, regardless of whether one or one hundred victims are actually touched, struck or harmed by the defendant's act. It would appear that the doctrine of transferred intent was developed to make a defendant culpable for the unintended consequences of his illegal acts, not to relieve a defendant of culpability if his illegal acts accomplish more than his intended goals. Respondent merely notes that courts also have applied causation principles opposed the doctrine as to of: transferred intent in analyzing cases involving harm to unintended or unforeseen victims. See Wright v. State, 363 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Parrish v. State, 97 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1957), cert. denied, 101 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1958).

#### ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE PRIOR TRIAL TESTIMONY OF AN ABSENT WITNESS.

Petitioner argues that the trial court improperly admitted prior trial testimony of an absent witness. This issue is not encompassed within the certified question, and this court therefore need not address it. Stephens v. State.

Petitioner did not challenge the admission of Sanders' former testimony in the trial court on constitutional grounds. Therefore, his Sixth Amendment confrontation clause argument is unpreserved. See Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Harmon v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988) (in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention made below).

The standard of review applicable to a trial court ruling admitting former testimony pursuant to section 90.804 is abuse of discretion. <u>Outlaw v. State</u>, 269 So.2d 3 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972); Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181 (Fla. 1991).

Section 90.804(2) permits admission into evidence of former testimony provided the declarant is unavailable as a witness. An unavailable declarant under section 90.804(1)(e) is one who is "absent from the hearing, and the proponent of his statement has been unable to procure his attendance or testimony by process or other reasonable means."

The state asserted that witness Chris Sanders was unavailable within the meaning of section 90.804(1)(e) because he was stationed in Germany in the military. The state did not allege any efforts to obtain Sanders' presence at the trial in this case. Sanders was present for petitioner's earlier trial on aggravated battery charges because Sanders was in the United States for Christmas vacation. (R1 26)

Mancusi v. Stubbs, 408 U.S. 204 (1972), that when a witness resides outside the United States, the state is powerless to compel his attendance. Professor Ehrhardt in Florida Evidence, §804.1 (2d Ed.) notes that the prosecution's obligation to obtain a witness beyond state boundaries is unclear under section 90.804. He states as follows:

It is not sufficient if the prosecution only shows that the witness is beyond the state boundaries and therefore it was unable to secure his attendance by subpoena; it must attempt to secure the voluntary attendance of the witness. 90.804 Section was not drafted precisely define this constitutional requirement because it was felt that such precise drafting was not possible; the Supreme Court decisions have not prosecution's clearly defined the The drafters felt that it obligation. was inappropriate for the Code to do so.

Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, §804.1 at p. 547. While the state in this case did not expressly state that it had attempted to obtain Sanders' voluntary presence for this trial, the state prior to petitioner's first trial refused

sanders was home only for a vacation and would be in Germany the following month. (R1 - Transcript at 3) The state's refusal to agree to a continuance on these grounds clearly evinces its belief that Sanders would not voluntarily agree to a return to the United States from Germany for the purpose of being a witness at either of petitioner's trials.

As noted by Professor Ehrhardt, the United States Supreme Court decisions are unclear as to the parameters of a party's obligation to secure the presence of a witness who is beyond either state or national boundaries.

In Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 88 S.Ct. 1318, 20 L.Ed. 2d 255 (1968), the court stated that "[A] witness is not 'unavailable' for purposes of ... the exception to the confrontation requirement unless the prosecutorial authorities have made a good-faith effort to obtain his presence at trial." Id., 390 U.S. at 724-725. In that case, the state made no attempt to obtain the presence of a witness who was incarcerated in a federal prison in another court reversed the defendant's conviction, state. The finding that the state failed to make use of available options to obtain the witness, including issuance of a writ of habeas corpus ad testificandum, and requests for the witness through the United States Bureau of Prisons. InMancusi v. Stubbs, by contrast, the court found that the state was powerless to obtain the presence of a witness who had left the United States to permanently reside in Sweden.

The court noted that there were no provisions comparable to those which existed in <u>Barber</u> to compel the presence of a witness residing in a foreign country. In <u>Ohio v. Roberts</u>, 448 U.S. 56, 100 S.Ct. 2531, 65 L.Ed. 2d 597 (1980), the court summarized its holding regarding constitutional unavailability as follows:

The basic litmus of Sixth Amendment unavailability is established: "[A] 'unavailable' witness is not for purposes of .. the exception to confrontation requirement unless prosecutorial authorities have made a good-faith effort to obtain his presence at trial. [cites omitted] Although it might be said that the Court's prior cases provide no further refinement of this statement of the rule, certain general propositions safely emerge. The law does not require the doing of a Thus, if no possibility of futile act. procuring the witness exists (as, for witness' intervening example, the death), "good faith" demands nothing of the prosecution. But if there is a possibility, albeit remote, that affirmative measures might produce the declarant, the obligation of good faith may demand their effectuation. lengths to which the prosecution must go to produce a witness ... is a question of reasonableness. [cites omitted] ultimate question is whether the witness unavailable despite good-faith efforts undertaken prior to trial locate and present that witness. with other evidentiary proponents, the prosecution bears the burden establishing this predicate.

#### Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. at 74.

The state in this case clearly assumed that no means were available for it to obtain the presence of witness Sanders at the second trial when he was stationed in Germany with the military, and that any efforts to do so would be

futile. As the record in Case No. 92-281 shows, the state anticipated Sanders' unavailability after the Christmas vacation. Given the lack of precision in section 90.804 and federal decisions construing the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation regarding the parameters of the state's obligation to obtain a witness who is residing in a foreign country, the state's assumption of unavailability was not unreasonable. Given the reasonableness of the assumption, the trial court's admission of the highly reliable former testimony should not constitute an abuse of discretion.

If admission of the testimony was error because of the lack of proper predicate, the error was harmless. testified at petitioner's first trial on three charges of aggravated battery. Defense counsel at that time had a full cross-examine opportunity to Sanders regarding the reliability of his identification of petitioner to police. (T 84-94) The jurors in petitioner's first trial on the far more serious charges of aggravated battery obviously found Sanders' testimony credible. As to petitioner's defense of misidentification, Office Ordonia testified that victims and Delarian Snow identified a photograph of William Ordonia testified that he had already been petitioner. given the name of the perpetrator and therefore was able to show the victims petitioner's photo. In addition, Ordonia testified that victim Shondra Robinson told him that she knew Barry Edler and gave him the same account of incident as the other eyewitnesses gave. Thus, the

identification of petitioner as the perpetrator of the aggravated batteries was established in the absence of of. the additional Sanders' testimony. In view identification evidence, and the limited impact Sanders' testimony would have had in comparison to the other identification evidence, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the admission of Sanders' testimony cannot be viewed as affecting the jury verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and citations of authority, Respondent requests this court to answer the certified question in the affirmative, and to decline to address the remaining three issues which are not encompassed within the certified question.